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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00017 
CASE NAME: BRUCE LOHMANN VS. SAFEWAY INC. 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE A 1st Amended CROSS-COMPLAINT 
FILED BY SAFEWAY INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Cross-Complainant Safeway, Inc.’s Motion for Leave to File a First Amended Cross-
Complaint is granted.   
 
 Pursuant to CCP §§ 426.50 and 428.50, Safeway, Inc. brings this motion for leave to file 
an amended cross-complaint adding Jorge A. Bernardino as a defendant and adding two new 
causes of action against him for negligence and negligent hiring.  Bernardino is Cross-
Defendant Clean Carts’ president, owner, and chief executive officer and signed the Service 
Agreement on behalf of Clean Carts. The motion is made on the ground the interests of justice 
will be served by allowing the filing of the amended cross-complaint.   
 
 Here, Plaintiff Bruce Lohmann was injured when the “Gatekeeper wheel” abruptly and 
unexpectedly locked on the Safeway shopping cart that he was pushing as he entered the 
Safeway store in Pittsburg.  Cross-Defendant Safeway purchased the original wheel-locking 
security system and components from Cross-Defendant Gatekeepers.  Safeway contracted with 
Cross-Defendant Clean Carts Sales and Service, Inc. (“Clean Carts”) to provide regular 
maintenance and repair of the shopping cart, including the wheel-locking system.  Safeway’s 
written Service Agreement with Clean Carts requires Clean Carts to defend and indemnify 
Safeway for claims arising out of the performance of its technicians. Also, Clean Carts was 
required to add Safeway as an insured to its insurance policy.  Jorge A. Bernardino failed to do 
so. 
 
  Motions for leave to amend the pleadings are directed to the sound discretion of the 
court.  “The court may…in its discretion, after notice to the adverse party, allow, upon any terms 
as may be just, an amendment to any pleading…” (CCP § 473.)   At any time before or after 
commencement of trial, the court may allow an amendment to a pleading in furtherance of 
justice. (Code Civ. Proc., § 576; Higgins v. Del Faro (1981) 123 Cal.App.3d 558, 564.)  “There is 
a policy of great liberality in permitting amendments to the pleadings at any stage of the 
proceeding.” (Berman v. Bromberg (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 936, 945.)  The policy favoring 
amendment is so strong that denial of leave to amend can rarely be justified. (Price v. Mason-
McDuffie Co. (1942) 50 Cal.App.2d 320, 325-326.)   
 
   Here, Cross-Defendant argues that as an officer of the corporation Bernardino incurred 
no personal liability, thus the Cross-Complaint fails to state a cause of action. “Directors or 
officers of a corporation do not incur personal liability for torts of the corporation merely by 
reason of their official position, unless they participate in the wrong or authorize or direct that it 
be done.  (United States Liability Ins. Co. v. Haidinger-Hayes, Inc. (1970) 1 Cal.3d 586, 595.)  
  
 “Ordinarily, the judge will not consider the validity of the proposed amended pleading in 
deciding whether to grant leave to amend. Grounds for demurrer or motion to strike are 
premature. After leave to amend is granted, the opposing party will have the opportunity to 
attack the validity of the amended pleading.  (See Kittredge Sports Co. v. Sup.Ct. (Marker, 
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U.S.A.)(1989) 213 Cal.App.3d 1045, 1048.) Denying leave to amend on a noticed motion is 
most appropriate where the complaint (cross-complaint in our case) is deficient as a matter of 
law and the defect could not be cured by further appropriate amendment.  “‘Leave to amend 
should be denied only where the facts are not in dispute, and the nature of the plaintiff's claim is 
clear, but under substantive law, no liability exists and no amendment would change the result.’ 
[Citation.]”  (Howard v. County of San Diego (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1422, 1428.) 
 
 As to Bernardino’s liability, “It is a well-recognized principle of law that corporate officers 
and directors ‘are jointly liable with the corporation and may be joined as defendants if they 
personally directed or participated in the tortious conduct." (Frances T. v. Village Green Owners 
Assn. (1986) 42 Cal. 3d 490, 504.)  Cross-Defendant has not demonstrated, as a matter of law, 
the cross-complaint cannot be amended to state facts showing liability on the part of Bernardino.  
The motion is therefore granted. 
 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00017 
CASE NAME: BRUCE LOHMANN VS. SAFEWAY INC. 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE 2nd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY BRUCE LOHMANN, SONIA ERNESTINA LOHMANN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion is granted pursuant to stipulation. 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00017 
CASE NAME: BRUCE LOHMANN VS. SAFEWAY INC. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL FURTHER RESPONSES TO REQUEST FOR DOCS. 
FILED BY BRUCE LOHMANN, SONIA ERNESTINA LOHMANN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The hearing is vacated. The parties have agreed to the production of certain documents 
pursuant to a stipulated protective order/confidentiality order which shall be submitted for the 
court’s approval on January 16th.  

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00407 
CASE NAME: BRYON JENSEN VS. JOHN MUIR MEDICAL CENTER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO PRECLUDE THE TESTIMONY OF BRETT HALLORAN 
FILED BY JOHN MUIR MEDICAL CENTER, CONCORD CAMPUS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant’s motion to compel the deposition testimony of Plaintiff’s expert witness, Dr. Brett 
Halloran, or to preclude the doctor’s testimony at trial if plaintiff fails to produce the witness for 
deposition, is granted.  
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Defendant Kim timely noticed the deposition for August 20th and plaintiff agreed to produce the 
witness on September 5th. On September 7th, Defendant Kim was dismissed from the case. On 
October 16th, plaintiff again reassured defense counsel that Dr. Halloran would be produced for 
deposition after November 9th. No such dates have been provided. 
 
Given plaintiff’s repeated reassurances that he would produce his expert witness for deposition, 
it would be unfair for plaintiff to now assert that the deposition notice should have been re-
noticed by a different defendant or that this motion is untimely. Plaintiff must produce the 
witness for deposition on or before February 15th or be precluded from introducing his testimony 
at trial. 
 
The Court declines to award sanctions in this matter. Defense counsel did not go through the 
discovery facilitator program, nor was it clear that plaintiff could avert the motion by providing 
additional deposition dates.  

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01717 
CASE NAME: JOHNSON VS. COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of JOHNSON 
FILED BY BAILEY T. LEE, M.D. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The hearing is continued by the Court to January 30, 2019 at 9:00 a.m.  

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01717 
CASE NAME: JOHNSON VS. COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA 
SPECIALLY SET HEARING ON: TRIAL RE-SETTING 
( SET BY DEPT. 9 ) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The hearing is continued by the Court to January 30, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02177 
CASE NAME: HICKEY VS. CARRINGTON 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY CARRINGTON MORTGAGE SERVICES, LLC, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a Motion for Summary Judgment (“MSJ”) filed by Defendant Carrington 

Mortgage Services, LLC and Defendant Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Trustee for 

Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust A (collectively, “Defendants”). The MSJ relates to the Third 
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Amended Complaint (“TAC”) filed by Plaintiff Michael J. Hickey and Plaintiff Mercedes V. Hickey 

(collectively “Plaintiffs” or “the Hickeys”). The TAC alleges claims for (1) wrongful foreclosure; 

(2) unfair business practices; (3) cancellation of trustee’s deed; (4) declaratory relief; (5) 

violation of Civil Code § 2923.7; (6) violation of Civil Code § 2924.17; (7) violation of Civil Code 

§ 2923.6; (8) violation of ECOA; (9) violation of RESPA; and (10) negligence. The MSJ is 

unopposed. 

For the following reasons, the MSJ is granted. 

Standard 

Code of Civil Procedure (“CCP”) §§ 437c(o)(1) and 437c(p)(2) provide the relevant legal 

standard for deciding the MSJ. Section 437c(o)(1) provides, in relevant part: 

A cause of action has no merit if one or more of the elements of the cause of action 

cannot be separately established, even if that element is separately pleaded. 

Section 437c(p)(2) provides, in relevant part: 

A defendant or cross-defendant has met his or her burden of showing that a cause of 

action has no merit if that party has shown that one or more elements of the cause of 

action, even if not separately pleaded, cannot be established, or that there is a complete 

defense to that cause of action. Once the defendant or cross-defendant has met that 

burden, the burden shifts to the plaintiff or cross-complainant to show that a triable issue 

of one or more material facts exists as to the cause of action or a defense thereto. The 

plaintiff or cross-complainant shall not rely upon the mere allegations or denials of its 

pleadings to show that a triable issue of material fact exists but, instead, shall set forth 

the specific facts showing that a triable issue of material fact exists as to that cause of 

action or a defense thereto.  

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendants Request Judicial Notice of several Contra Costa County Recorder documents. This 

Request is unopposed. The Request for Judicial Notice (“RJN”) is granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 

453. 

Factual Background 

On or about April 7, 2006, Plaintiffs borrowed $999,999.00 from lender Countrywide Bank, N.A. 

This Loan was secured by a Deed of Trust over the real property located at 2000 Mornington 

Lane, San Ramon, CA 94582. UMF 1. MERS later assigned the beneficial interest in this Deed 

of Trust to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP, fka Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, LP. UMF 

2. On November 16, 2011 a Notice of Default was recorded, reflecting more than $215,000.00 in 

arrearages on the Loan. UMF 3. On February 21, 2012 a Notice of Trustee’s Sale was recorded, 

setting the sale for March 16, 2012. UMF 4.  
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As early as 2008, and following the recording of the 2011 Notice of Default, Plaintiffs had been 

considered for loan modification alternatives on multiple occasions. UMF 14.  

Carrington began servicing the loan on or about January 26, 2016. UMF 8. Also in January 

Plaintiffs sent Carrington a letter advising them that they were represented by counsel and that 

the loan was involved in litigation. UMF 15. As a consequence, Carrington flagged Plaintiffs’ file 

as being in litigation and did not initiate contact with Plaintiffs. UMF 16.  

Carrington Foreclosure Services, LLC executed a new Notice of Default dated April 8, 2016, 

reflecting more than $286,000 in arrearages on the Loan. UMF 9. Copies of the Notice of 

Default were mailed by certified mail to Plaintiffs and their daughter on May 4, 2016. UMF 10.  

On or about May 4, 2016, Carrington answered a call from Plaintiff and informed her that a loan 

modification application could be obtained from Carrington’s website, and to ensure to follow all 

instructions. UMF 17. Plaintiffs mailed Carrington a loan modification application via certified 

mail on or about July 12, 2016. UMF 18. 

On July 14, 2016 a Notice of Trustee’s Sale was recorded, setting the sale for August 12, 2016. 

The foreclosure sale was then postponed several times. The foreclosure trustee mailed Plaintiffs 

copies of the Notice of Sale and of each notice of postponement. UMF 11. 

On July 21, 2016 Carrington informed Plaintiffs that their application was not complete. UMF 19. 

Plaintiffs sent additional documents relating to their application for a loan modification on July 

22, 2016 and August 5, 2016, specifically related to their daughter’s income. UMF 20. 

Carrington sent Plaintiffs a Trial Modification Agreement which included a trial payment plan on 

or about September 7, 2016. The Trial Modification Agreement required an initial payment 

followed by five monthly payments, then provided for new amortization of the Loan and loan 

forgiveness. UMF 21. The terms of the Agreement were communicated to Plaintiffs by phone on 

September 7, 2016. UMF 22. Plaintiffs did not make the initial payment nor the first monthly 

payment. UMF 23. Plaintiffs admitted that they lacked the funds to make the first payment under 

the Agreement. UMF 26. Plaintiffs never requested a single point of contact. UMF 24.  

The foreclosure sale took place on November 15, 2016, wherein title to the Property reverted to 

Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as a Trustee for Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust A as 

reflected by a Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale recorded on November 18, 2017. UMF 12.  

Analysis 

Wrongful Foreclosure (First Cause of Action) 

A cause of action for wrongful foreclosure has three elements: “To obtain the equitable set-aside 

of a trustee’s sale or maintain a wrongful foreclosure claim, a plaintiff must allege that (1) the 

defendants caused an illegal, fraudulent, or willfully oppressive sale of the property pursuant to 

a power of sale in a mortgage or deed of trust; (2) the plaintiff suffered prejudice or harm; and 

(3) the plaintiff tendered the amount of the secured indebtedness or was excused from 

tendering.” Chavez v. Indymac Mortgage Services (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 1052, 1062. 
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Plaintiffs’ wrongful foreclosure claim is based primarily on alleged violations of Civil Codes 

§§ 2923.55 and 2924.17. Section 2923.55 was repealed on January 1, 2018. As a 

consequence, during 2018 Plaintiffs’ claim for violation of 2923.55 would have been abated. See 

Rankin v. Longs Drug Stores California, Inc. (2009) 169 Cal.App.4th 1246, 1256; see also 

Governing Board v. Mann (1977) 18 Cal.3d 819, 829. 

“Where a right is created solely by a statute, and is dependent upon the statute alone, and such 

right is still inchoate, and not reduced to possession, or perfected by final judgment, the repeal 

of the statute destroys the remedy, unless the repealing statute contains a saving clause.” Napa 

State Hospital v. Flaherty (1901) 134 Cal. 315, 317; see also Krause v. Rarity (1930) 210 Cal. 

644, 652 (where a right of action did not exist at common law, but depends solely upon a 

statute, a repeal of the statute destroys that right unless it has been reduced to final judgment or 

unless the repealing statute contains a saving clause protecting rights in pending litigation). 

Here, Plaintiffs brought a claim for injunctive relief for alleged violations of pre-NOD contact, a 

cause of action that did not exist at common law and derived from the HBOR statute. They did 

not proceed to final judgment before the statute was repealed. As a consequence, their rights 

did not vest under § 2923.55. 

The Court notes that in 2019 the Legislature restored the pre-NOD contact requirements of 

§ 2923.55. However, this statute does not have retroactive effect. See Civ. Code § 3 (no part of 

code retroactive “unless expressly so declared.”). 

Plaintiffs also allege that Defendants violated § 2924.17 because the declaration required under 

former 2923.55 was erroneous; however, Plaintiffs cannot state a claim under this cause of 

action for the reasons discussed above. Plaintiffs’ unlawful foreclosure claim lacks merit. 

Unfair Business Practices (Second Cause of Action) 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 

unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 

practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 

in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 

17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 

deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 

the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 

gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 

(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 

Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

Here, the alleged unfair conduct complained of is Defendants’ alleged violations of 2923.55 and 

2924.17, alleged failure to provide Plaintiffs daughter with a copy of the Notice of Default, 

alleged failure to consider her income in Plaintiffs’ loan modification application, and finally 

alleged failure to name her in the post-foreclosure eviction action. TAC at ¶ 76. 

First, Defendants are correct that Plaintiffs lack standing to bring a 17200 claim on their 

daughter’s behalf. Code Civ. Proc. § 367. Second, Plaintiffs 2923.55 and 2924.17 claims fail for 
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the reasons described herein. They cannot form the predicate for Plaintiffs’ 17200 claim. Finally, 

there is no evidence of economic injury and causation. In the absence of evidence that they 

incurred a “personal, individualized loss of money or property in any nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, 

51 Cal.4th at 325), that was caused by Defendants’ allegedly unfair and fraudulent conduct, 

Plaintiffs’ 17200 claim has no merit. 

Cancellation of Trustee’s Deed (Third Cause of Action) 

“[A]s a condition precedent to an action by the borrower to set aside the trustee’s sale on the 

ground that the sale is voidable because of irregularities in the sale notice or procedure, the 

borrower must offer to pay the full amount of the debt for which the property was security.” Lona 

v. Citibank, N.A. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 112 (“Lona”). “The rationale behind the rule is that if 

[the borrower] could not have redeemed the property had the sale procedures been proper, any 

irregularities in the sale did not result in damages to the [borrower].” FPCI RE-HAB 01 v. E & G 

Investments, Ltd. (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 1018, 1022. 

To the extent Plaintiffs’ claim is premised on Defendants’ alleged violation of former section 

§ 2923.6, the only available remedy under former section § 2923.6 was injunctive relief. See 

Civ. Code § 2924.12 (repealed Jan. 1, 2018). Furthermore, the TAC does not allege that the 

recorded documents that they seek to cancel are void or voidable. Plaintiffs’ claim for 

cancellation of trustee’s deed lacks merit. 

Declaratory relief (Fourth Cause of Action) 

Plaintiffs’ claim for declaratory relief is derivative of their other claims. For the same reasons as 

stated herein, Plaintiffs’ declaratory judgment claim lacks merit. 

 HBOR claims (violation of Civil Code § 2923.7; violation of Civil Code § 2924.17; 

violation of Civil Code § 2923.6) (Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh Causes of Action) 

Civil Code § 2923.7 requires a SPOC to be appointed when a borrower “requests a foreclosure 

prevention alternative,” such as a loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.7(a). Critically, however, 

§ 2923.7 requires that the borrower request a single point of contact. The undisputed material 

facts show that Plaintiffs never requested a single point of contact. UMF 24. The fifth cause of 

action for alleged violation of § 2923.7 lacks merit. 

Plaintiffs’ claim for violation of § 2924.17 is discussed in the wrongful foreclosure section, above. 

For similar reasons, Plaintiffs’ claim for dual tracking under § 2923.6 also lacks merit. 

The prohibition on dual tracking was codified in former section 2923.6 that was repealed on 

January 1, 2018. Prior to January 1, 2018 Civil Code § 2923.6 prohibited “dual tracking,” 

wherein a “borrower’s mortgage servicer, a mortgage service, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, 

or authorized agent” records a notice of default or notice of sale, notwithstanding a pending 

application for a first lien loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.6 (repealed January 1, 2018). The 

ban on “dual tracking” became effective once the borrower submitted a “complete application for 

a first lien loan modification.” Id. at subsection (c). HBOR provided injunctive relief only for a 

“material” violation of the dual tracking statute. See former Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1) (“a 
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borrower may bring an action for injunctive relief to enjoin a material violation of Section 

2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 2924.17.”) (emphasis added). 

The section 2923.6 that was operative for 2018 did not contain dual tracking prohibitions. See 

Civil Code § 2923.6. At that time, there was also no longer a remedy for a material violation of 

this section codified in § 2924.12. As a consequence, during 2018 Plaintiffs’ claim for violation of 

2923.6 would have been abated. See Rankin, supra, 169 Cal.App.4th at 1256; see also Mann, 

supra, 18 Cal.3d at 829. 

Here, Plaintiffs brought a claim for injunctive relief for alleged dual tracking violations, a cause of 

action that did not exist at common law and derived from the HBOR statute. They did not 

proceed to final judgment before the statute was repealed. As a consequence, their rights did 

not vest under § 2923.6. The Legislature’s restoration of the prohibition on dual tracking in 2019 

does not salvage Plaintiffs’ claim; this statute does not have retroactive effect. See Civ. Code § 

3 (no part of code retroactive “unless expressly so declared.”). 

Plaintiffs fifth, sixth, and seventh causes of action lack merit. 

Violation of Equal Credit Opportunity Act (Eighth Cause of Action) 

Plaintiffs allege that Carrington violated provisions of the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (“ECOA”) 

(specifically, 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)) by failing to communicate to them whether it would provide 

them with a loan modification. TAC ¶¶ 112, 113.  

As a threshold issue, Carrington argues that ECOA does not apply where the borrower is 

delinquent or in default.  

ECOA defines an “adverse action” as a: 

denial or revocation of credit, a change in the terms of an existing credit 
arrangement, or a refusal to grant credit in substantially the amount or on 
substantially the terms requested. Such term does not include a refusal to extend 
additional credit under an existing credit arrangement where the applicant is 
delinquent or otherwise in default, or where such additional credit would exceed a 
previously established credit limit. 

Id. § 1691(d)(6). 

The basis of Plaintiffs’ ECOA claim is their allegation that Carrington violated provisions of the 

Equal Credit Opportunity Act (“ECOA”) (specifically, 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)) by failing to 

communicate to them whether it would provide them with a loan modification. TAC ¶¶ 112, 113. 

This allegation is insufficient to state a claim under § 1691; Plaintiffs have themselves alleged 

that they were “delinquent or otherwise in default.” As a consequence, the ECOA would not 

appear to apply. Furthermore, the undisputed material facts show that Defendants did notify 

Plaintiffs of their decision concerning their July 2016 application, and in fact offered them a trial 

loan modification on September 7, 2016. Plaintiffs’ ECOA claim lacks merit. 

Violation of RESPA (Ninth Cause of Action) 
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Plaintiffs allege that Carrington violated certain provisions under the Real Estate Settlement 
Procedures Act (“RESPA”), regarding loss mitigation procedures. However, the undisputed facts 
contradict these allegations.  

For example, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants violated RESPA by failing to acknowledge their 
July 2016 application within five days. TAC at ¶¶ 115, 116. This requirement, however, only 
applies where the application is received “45 days or more” before the foreclosure sale. 12 CFR 
1024.41(b)(2)(i). Here, Plaintiffs mailed their loan modification application on or about July 12, 
2018 (UMF 18) and the foreclosure sale was scheduled for August 12, 2016. UMF 11.  

Finally, Plaintiffs’ allegations that Defendants violated 1021.41(f)(2) lack merit as that subsection 

refers to the “first notice or filing required by applicable law for any judicial or non-judicial 

foreclosure process” (12 CFR 1021.41(f)). In this case, that is the 2011 Notice of Default (UMF 

3) and the undisputed material facts reflect that as early as 2008 and following the recording of 

the 2011 Notice, Plaintiffs had been considered for loan modification servicers on multiple 

occasions. UMF 14. Plaintiffs’ RESPA cause of action lacks merit. 

Negligence (Tenth Cause of Action) 

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 

plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 

caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 

Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 

prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 

(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care under Civil Code § 1714. See Daniels v. Select 

Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; Alvarez v. 

BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 941, 944-949; Jolley v. 

Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872. 

The gravamen of Plaintiffs negligence claim is their allegation that Defendant Carrington 

“mishandled” their loan modification application “in determining that it could not provide Plaintiffs 

with a loan modification.” TAC ¶ 123. This allegation is belied by the undisputed material fact 

that Carrington did provide Plaintiffs with a Trial Modification Agreement. UMF 21. Plaintiffs’ 

negligence cause of action lacks merit. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00735 
CASE NAME: OYEDELE VS. WINGARD 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY JAMES WINGARD, DYAN WINGARD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The hearing is continued by the Court to January 23, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. 
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01431 
CASE NAME: NORTH RICHMOND VS. BNSF RAILWAY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE AN AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FILED BY NORTH RICHMOND PROPERTIES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
VACATED per NTC of withdrawal filed on 12/18/18 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01875 
CASE NAME: ALI VS. LIEBERMAN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY R. MICHAEL LIEBERMAN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant’s unopposed demurrer to the complaint is sustained with leave to amend. The 
complaint fails to allege any facts in support of the first cause of action for breach of contract, 
including who the parties are, when the contract was entered into, the terms of the contract and 
the alleged breach. The form complaint also checks the box for “other” cause of action but fails 
to state what that cause of action is and does not plead any facts in support of it. Accordingly, 
the complaint is uncertain and does not state facts sufficient to constitute any cause of action. 
Code Civ. Proc. Section 430.10(e) and (f).  
 
Plaintiff filed an opposition the day before the hearing that does not include a proof of service. 
Given the lack of a proof of service and the untimeliness of the opposition, the Court has not 
considered the opposition.  
 
Plaintiff has 10 days leave to amend his complaint. 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02495 
CASE NAME: BERNIE VS. BERNIE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE 
FILED BY BOB BERNIE, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
VACATED as 1st amended cross complaint was filed on 12/31/18 
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12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02495 
CASE NAME: BERNIE VS, BERNIE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO CROSS-COMPLAINT of BERNIE 
FILED BY BOB BERNIE, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
VACATED as 1st amended cross complaint was filed on 12/31/18 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00831 
CASE NAME: CADLES OF WEST VIRGINIA  VS.  CHRISTIAN ROUSSET 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE DEFAULT & DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY CHRISTIAN J. ROUSSET 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Plaintiff Christian Rousset’s motion to set aside the default and default judgment is 
granted.  While his showing is weak, Plaintiff is a self-represented litigant who has moved 
promptly (within two weeks) of the entry of default judgment to move to set the judgment aside.  
Plaintiff can cure his failure to attach a proposed answer or pleading, and is ordered to file an 
answer or other valid response within 10 days.  
 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01207 
CASE NAME: MARLENE RAMIREZ  VS.  ANAELLE METAIS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF THE COMPLAINT 
FILED BY ANAELLE CHANTAL METAIS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Vacated pursuant to settlement.  

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02245 
CASE NAME: HANCOCK VS. FREMONT BANK 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY FREMONT BANK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Defendant Fremont Bank (“Defendant” 
or Fremont Bank”). The Demurrer relates to the Complaint filed by Plaintiff Anne Hancock 
(“Plaintiff” or “Hancock”). Plaintiff is in pro per. The Complaint alleges a single cause of action 
for quiet title against all defendants. 
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Defendant demurs pursuant to Code of Civ. Proc. § 430.10(e) and (f) on several grounds. For 
the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant requests judicial notice of several documents from the Contra Costa County 
Recorder Office. Plaintiff objects to this Request. Defendant’s request for Judicial Notice is 
granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453.  

Factual Background 

Plaintiff owns the real property located at 4400 Galileo Drive, Antioch, CA 94509. Complaint at 
1. She purchased the property on August 7, 2008. RJN Ex. A. At that time, Plaintiff obtained a 
mortgage loan in the amount of $240,000 from Wachovia Mortgage, FSB on August 7, 2008, 
secured against the property. RJN Ex. B. Plaintiff subsequently refinanced her loan in 2010 with 
Tri Counties Bank, who recorded a Deed of Trust on February 25, 2010. RJN Ex. C. Then in 
2014, Plaintiff refinanced her loan with Fremont Bank, who recorded a Deed of Trust on August 
29, 2014. RJN Ex. E. 

Plaintiff filed the instant complaint for quiet title on November 7, 2018. She includes two broad 
subcategories of allegations, “deceit” and “concealment.” In her “deceit” subsection, Plaintiff 
alleges that “[a]fter the purchase of this home Plaintiff never received [a Deed, Deed of Trust 
and Grant Deed] and inquired about them but the buyer was unwilling to submit copies to the 
Plaintiff.” Complaint at 2. Plaintiff alleges that subsequent transactions are questionable 
“because many documents were missing and when Plaintiff requested original documents the 
Defendants were unable to process the request therefore, original loan documents were never 
received.” Id. She further alleges that documents were “falsely prepared.” Finally, she alleges 
that “Defendants’ actions in processing and handling of these loans involved numerous false 
actions causing deceptive and misleading practices including but not limited to violations of 
State Laws designed to protect borrowers which was a cause of Plaintiff to be at an equitable 
disadvantage to each of the Defendants.” Id. 

In her “concealment” subsection, Plaintiff alleges that “Defendant concealed the fact that the 
Borrower’s loan changed by all of the actions that were taken by the defendants.” Complaint at 
2.  

Plaintiff alleges that “none of the parties or Defendant’s [sic] in this case holds perfected and 
secured claim in the Property and Defendant’s [sic] are stopped and precluded from asserting 
an unsecured claim against Plaintiff’s estate and property.” Complaint at 3. Specifically, Plaintiff 
alleges that MERS lacks authority to properly transfer Deeds of Trust to the Defendants. 
Complaint at 4. As a consequence, Plaintiff alleges that “Defendants do not have a right to 
foreclose on the Property because they did not properly comply with the requirements and 
falsely prepared documents and portrayed unfair business practices therefore any attempted 
sale of the property is ‘unlawful and void.’” Id. 

Legal Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 
alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 
550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with 
reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, 
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source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. 
Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. 
at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the 
complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” 
California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. “The existence 
and scope of duty are legal questions for the court.” Merrill v. Navegar, Inc. (2001) 26 Cal.4th 
465, 477. 

Analysis 

As a threshold matter, uncertainty is a disfavored ground for demurring to a complaint. See, 
e.g., Khoury v. Maly’s of California (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 616; 1 Weil & Brown, Civil 
Procedure Before Trial (The Rutter Group 2011) § 7:84, p. 7-39. A demurrer for uncertainty 
generally will be sustained only when the complaint is such that the defendant cannot even 
determine what it must respond to. Williams v. Beechnut Nutrition Corp. (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 
135, 139. The Court declines to sustain the Demurrer to the Complaint on the grounds of 
uncertainty. 

Plaintiff’s wrongful foreclosure theory is not entirely clear, although it appears to be based on 
her allegation that subsequent assignments deprived Fremont Bank of the authority to foreclose. 
See Complaint at 4. 

California law does not require that the assignment of a deed of trust be recorded. See Herrera 
v. Federal National Mortgage Assn. (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1495, 1506 (demurrer based on 
lack of recorded assignment sustained because “the lender could have assigned the note to the 
beneficiary in an unrecorded document not disclosed to plaintiffs”); see also Calvo v. HSBC 
Bank USA, N.A. (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 118, 121-125. Furthermore, Plaintiff lacks standing to 
challenge alleged defects in assignment. See Saterbak v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (2016) 
245 Cal.App.4th 808, 815 (plaintiff lacked standing to challenge alleged defects in assignment; 
an unauthorized act by the trustee is not void but merely voidable by the beneficiary); see also 
Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp. (2016) 62 Cal.4th 919, 942 (recognizes borrower 
standing only where the defect in the assignment is void, rather than voidable). Finally, MERS’ 
authority to assign a deed of trust is well established. See Siliga v. Mortgage Electronic 
Registration Systems, Inc. (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 75, 83, disapproved on other grounds by 
Yvanova v. New Century Mortg. Corp. (2016) 62 Cal.4th 919, 939 n. 13.  

In Opposition, Plaintiff argues that because she never received the original deed nor title, she “is 
excused from any transactions that occurred after the conveyance and deed recorded on 
8/7/08.” Opp. at 2:22-24. Plaintiff provides no authority to support this contention, and the Court 
is not aware of any.  

With respect to her claim for quiet title, the elements of an action to quiet title are: (1) “the 
plaintiff is the owner and in possession of the land,” and (2) “the defendant claims an interest 
therein adverse to [the plaintiff].” South Shore Land Co. v. Petersen (1964) 226 Cal. App. 2d 
725, 740-741. A borrower cannot quiet title to secured property without alleging that he paid the 
debt secured by the property. See, e.g., Miller v. Provost (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 1703, 1707 (“a 
mortgagor of real property cannot, without paying his debt, quiet his title against the 
mortgagee.”).  
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Plaintiff has not alleged tender or adequately alleged that she is exempt from the tender 
requirement. There are four exceptions to the tender requirement in the nonjudicial foreclosure 
context: First, if the borrower’s action attacks the validity of the underlying debt, a tender is not 
required since it would constitute an affirmation of the debt. Second, a tender will not be 
required when the person who seeks to set aside the trustee’s sale has a counterclaim or set-off 
against the beneficiary. Third, a tender may not be required where it would be inequitable to 
impose such a condition on the party challenging the sale. Fourth, no tender will be required 
when the trustor is not required to rely on equity to attack the deed because the trustee’s deed 
is void on its face. See Lona v. Citibank, N.A. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 112-13. There are no 
allegations in the Complaint that would support any of these exceptions. 

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts to state a claim for quiet title. 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02377 
CASE NAME: GRANADOS VS. ASAP COLLECTION SE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
FILED BY ELIZABETH GRANADOS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s unopposed motion for preliminary injunction is granted. CCP section 526. Defendants 
are barred from foreclosing on the property during the pendency of this action. Plaintiff has 
posted the $2,000 bond the Court required and is ordered to continue to make all regular 
monthly payments of the HOA assessments. The Court sets a CMC for May 6, 2019 at 8:30 
a.m. 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-01171 
CASE NAME: TUSTIN COMMUNITY BANK VS. FOSTER 
HEARING ON OSC RE: WHY SANCTIONS SHOULD NOT BE IMPOSED FOR ATTORNEY 
BREWER'S FAILURE TO APPEAR 12/17/18 FOR FURTHER CMC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Attorney Brewer to appear. 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-01171 
CASE NAME: TUSTIN COMMUNITY BANK VS. FOSTER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO DEEM MATTERS ADMITTED 
FILED BY TUSTIN COMMUNITY BANK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s unopposed motion to deem matters admitted and for sanctions is denied. The motion 
was served by mail on December 19, 2018, which is insufficient notice pursuant to Code of Civil 
Procedure section 1005(b). 
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19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-01171 
CASE NAME: TUSTIN COMMUNITY BANK VS. ROY FOSTER 
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE (COLLECTIONS) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Parties to appear. 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL18-01691 
CASE NAME: WELLS FARGO VS. PEREZ 
HEARING ON MOTION TO DEEM MATTERS ADMITTED 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s unopposed motion to deem matters admitted is granted. 

  

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN18-2385 
CASE NAME: IN RE PETITION OF BLUE TOP INC. 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR APPROVAL OF TRANSFER OF STRUCTURED 
SETTLEMENT  /  FILED BY L JOHNSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The matter has been continued to February 20, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. 

                                     ADD ON 

22.  TIME:  9:01   CASE#: MSC17-01137 
CASE NAME: CHAPMAN VS BOND 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ENFORCE JUDGMENT,ISSUANCE OF OSC RE 
CONTEMPT FILED BY VAN BOND 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to enforce the judgment, the request to set an Order to Show Cause hearing, and 
the motion for appointment of receiver are all denied.  As set forth below, the Circuit Court in 
Jackson County, Oregon reserved jurisdiction as to the subject matter of these motions. 
 

I. Background 
 
This case arises from a dispute over the parties’ 50-50 partnership in a company known as Side 
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X Side.  The parties brought several claims against each other at trial in Circuit Court of the 
State of Oregon, County of Jackson, Hon. Timothy Gerking presiding.  The Oregon court 
directed verdict for plaintiff Cathy Chapman on several claims, and issued a limited judgment as 
to the jury awards on competing conversion claims which netted $61,092.56 in Chapman’s 
favor.  The jury verdict, on November 6, 2014, was substantially in Chapman’s favor and 
included a finding that defendant Van Bond committed fraud.  The Oregon court issued its 
findings of fact on February 12, 2015.  (See Bond RJN, Exh. 3.)  
 
Its final General Judgment, signed September 11, 2015, awarded Chapman three separate 
monetary recoveries of $371,775.09, $4,606.01, and $246,593.63, with interest at 9% per year.  
Additionally, the Oregon court required Bond to turn over any partnership assets in his 
possession.  It also named Chapman the winding-up partner and directed her to liquidate assets 
and pay expenses.  Any excess up to $377,914.68 was to be paid to Chapman to equalize 
capital accounts; excess above that amount was to be split 50-50.  (Id.)   Finally: “The [Oregon] 
Court retains jurisdiction to enter any other orders and supplemental judgments as may be 
necessary in winding up the partnership.”  (Id., ¶ 10.)  By separate orders in December, 2014, it 
required Chapman to liquidate the remaining cattle owned by the partnership.  (Bond RJN, 
Exhs. 5, 6.) 
 
A subsequent appeal resulted in affirmance without opinion on May 2, 2017.  Bond also filed for 
bankruptcy, a matter that was dismissed without discharge on June 6, 2017.  (Chapman RJN, 
Exhs. 2, 3.)   
 
Chapman then filed multiple actions in this County to enforce the Oregon judgment.  (She had 
previously filed Case No. MSC13-01098 prior to the Oregon trial to recover certain items of 
personal property; that case was dismissed in October, 2017 after being continued for 
completion of the Oregon case and the bankruptcy.)  First, on June 16, 2017, she filed this 
action to enter judgment in California for the non-monetary relief in Oregon, including the 
turnover of property listed in the Oregon matter but believed to be in Bond’s position in 
California.  Bond did not appear, so the Court entered a default judgment enforcing paragraphs 
4 and 5 of the Oregon court’s General Judgment, which required Bond to deliver partnership 
assets to Chapman – including specific items (a)-(m) consisting of trailers, vehicles, and other 
partnership chattels – so that Chapman could liquidate the assets.  Second, in Case No. 
MSN17-01238, Chapman applied to enter a California judgment on the monetary relief under 
the Oregon judgment.  (See generally Code Civ. Proc. § 1710.10 et seq.)  The Court entered 
that judgment on July 17, 2017.   
 
Bond now brings the instant enforcement motions.   
 

II. Motion to Enforce Judgment 
 
In deciding this motion, it is important to remember why and how the parties invoked jurisdiction 
here.  Chapman, not Bond, did so, and for specific purposes: to ensure Bond handed over any 
property he held in California in compliance with the Oregon court’s order and to provide 
authority for the liquidation of those assets within California.   
 
But this motion, brought by Bond, asks this Court to, among other things, evaluate and rule on a 
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preliminary accounting, to adjudicate issues related to allegedly missing tax filings, and to 
otherwise resolve disputes about the wind-up.  (See Motion, pp. 1-3.)  The Oregon court 
retained jurisdiction over all such issues.  Generally, when a sister-state judgment becomes a 
judgment of a California court, the California court may enforce it as it would any other California 
judgment.  (See Code Civ. Proc. § 1913, subd. (a).)  But Bond points to no authority suggesting 
it would be appropriate to exercise that power as to matters over which a sister-state court 
expressly reserved jurisdiction.  And here, the Oregon court conducted a full trial as well 
extensive work on post-judgment findings of fact and other orders.  So it has the far superior 
expertise to adjudicate wind-up disputes anyway. 
 
Of course, this Court may issue orders compelling turnover of the list of property, as set forth in 
paragraph 1 of this Court’s judgment, which are in California.  But no one requests that, and 
Bond, the moving party, is the one subject to that order in the first place.  Accordingly, the 
motion is denied.   
 

III. Request for Order to Show Cause 
 
There is no basis for an order to show cause as the record does not indicate Chapman delayed 
enforcing the judgment or winding up the partnership.  As she correctly points out, both the 
appeal of the judgment and Bond’s bankruptcy prevented her from further enforcement efforts or 
consummating the sale of any property.  The appeal resolved in May, 2017, affirming the 
judgment.  The final dismissal (without discharge) of the bankruptcy action occurred in June, 
2017, and on June 16, 2017, she filed a complaint in this court seeking to enforce the sister 
state judgment.  And doing so mere days after the bankruptcy dismissal can hardly be described 
as dilatory.   
 

IV. Motion to Appoint Receiver 
 
Nor will this Court appoint a receiver to oversee the distribution of further partnership assets or 

wind-up activities.  For one thing, there is a dispute as to what and where these assets are; 

some may be outside California or non-existent.  For example, Chapman claims to have sold 60 

cattle by 2015.  Bond estimates that cattle and calves should now number in the hundreds, 

although that presumes that Chapman held many through 2017 or 2018.  This Court’s prior 

order never referenced the cattle at all.   

  

But more fundamentally, disputes about the wind-up activities in a general sense (proper 
allocation of proceeds to partnership debts vs. capital accounts, whether sales were properly 
conducted in compliance with the Oregon court’s orders, whether Chapman rebranded cattle, 
etc.) are exactly the matters over which the Oregon court reserved jurisdiction.  It is up to the 
Oregon court to determine if a receiver is required. 
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23.  TIME:  9:02   CASE#: MSN17-0045 
CASE NAME: HSU VS. SCHREIBER 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: PETITIONER'S STATUS REPORT SET BY 
DIRECTION OF DEPT. 9 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Petitioner’s Status Report, Parts I – IV, Supporting Declaration of John Hsu with voluminous 
documents and the Updated Status Report are all stricken. Mr. Hsu is a vexatious litigant and 
did not get prior approval to file these documents in this already adjudicated case. In addition, 
the overlong documents have not been served on the defendant and do not seek relief from the 
court. 

 

 


